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From Script to Dream

Greg Rosen, A.M., L.C.S.W.
Paper Presentation, IFPE conference, Fort Lauderdale, Florida, October 27, 2002

I

 decided to report on the case of Sarah earlier this year after seeing the movie A Beautiful Mind.  I was particularly struck that John Nash was characterized as effectively working a cognitive therapy on himself.  According to the movie, Nash, after years of being incapacitated by his delusions and hallucinations, realized that regularly appearing characters in his visual hallucinations were not aging as he was aging. From this crucial discovery, he was able to learn to ignore and segregate his psychosis from his overall mental life.  He resumed a productive existence including winning the Nobel Prize for his earlier work. 

Despite his enormous accomplishments, Nash’s recovery was mainly a social or functional one in that his illness continued unabated.  The crucial improvement was that he learned to work around his symptoms effectively.  Still this recovery was quite striking in that Nash completed it on his own without the help of psychotherapy or medications. Arguably, this type of recovery requires significant intellectual muscle and a relatively unaffected sector of the mind- qualities which are not readily available in many schizophrenics. 

As I pondered the movie, I wondered what Nash’s recovery would have looked like if he had had a psychotherapy aimed at analyzing and integrating his psychosis rather than effectively learning to ignore it. The case I am presenting today explores the question of what can happen when a cognitively contained psychosis is analyzed in the context of a psychoanalytic transference.

I have been working with Sarah for about three-and-a-half years. I have been seeing her three times a week throughout most of the therapy which originally began at a city of Chicago mental health clinic and has continued in my private practice. In addition to psychotherapy, Sarah has been taking the anti psychotic medication Seroquel for all but a few months of the treatment.  When we switched to my private practice, there was a three-month period when she took no medication.  There was no material change in her psychotic symptoms whether on or off her anti-psychotic. She described the medicine as helping her to sleep better and feel less agitated. 

Sarah is a forty-two-year-old black woman of average height and thin build.  She dresses casually and usually wears a coat and head covering. Until recently, her energy bristled with anger. She would open the door to my waiting room with such force that my entire, small office would shake a little bit. Her spoken manner was initially quiet and deferential until she got talking about her psychoses, which would lead her to become very animated and curse wildly.  She was married from her late twenties through her mid thirties and has a fourteen-year-old daughter and an eleven-year-old son.  Her daughter was fathered by a man from an earlier relationship.

Sarah has been psychotic since she was a child but did not have a schizophrenic break until she quit using drugs at age 35.  At that point she began to have graphically disturbing visual hallucinations of the Devil and Jesus along with commands to give away everything in order to receive a blessing.  She complied and nearly became homeless.  She was hospitalized and has been taking medication since then.  Her hallucinations have continued unabated but like Nash, she learned to not comply with the commands. 

Sarah reminded me of Nash by her natural style of working on herself, which, while informed by her traumatic history, paralleled Nash’s intellectual approach. Early on she declared her goal to “get with the program of the mental help” (i.e. the therapy) and began looking for the correct way to think. 

Sarah’s family history is graphically traumatic. Her mother and grandmother (the grand-daughter of a slave) were all molested and physically abused growing up. Sarah’s mother, who I have met, is psychotic though not schizophrenic.  She actively hallucinates but has been able to outwardly function throughout her life including holding a job and buying a house.  She was molested as a teenager by a young man in the family’s barn. According to Sarah, her grandmother was aware that her daughter was having sex but waited till after they were done.  When they emerged from the barn, her  grandmother offered the man a choice between marrying Sarah’s mother or being reported to the police.  He married Sarah’s mother with contempt and took his rage out on the family.  Sarah and her three brothers were forced to wake up before dawn and eat huge bowls of oatmeal and then take off their pants for beatings.  At other times the children would be forced to sit still for hours at a time not allowed to move or get up.   Sarah was molested by an uncle at age eight and later her Aunt, followed by her father at age twelve.  She remembers hearing her first hallucinated voices at age eight after being molested by her uncle. The voices commented to her that she knew he (the uncle) would do it again. She began to wish for a powerful protector who was even more evil than her relatives.  Later in the therapy she remembered that when she was twelve she had a dream of Satan putting her father in a dress and having him dance like a fool in front of her. 

Her mother suspected Sarah of being pregnant (which she was not) and kicked her father out of the house when she was twelve.  Her mother blamed Sarah for attracting her father and went to war against her pubescent development. She gave her a medicinal drink meant to suppress her “nature”, shaved her pubic hair, bathed her in bleach baths which were supposed to decrease her breast development, and lectured her about the corrupting power of Satan.  Sarah ran away from home numerous times growing up and finally left for good at sixteen and graduated from high school while living with an aunt.  This aunt introduced her to drugs and alcohol which she used regularly for the next 20 years.  She quit using soon after leaving her alcoholic and abusive husband. 

When Sarah came to see me, she had been sober for 5 years and, though regularly medicated, continued to be tortured by visual and auditory hallucinations every waking minute. Her hallucinations, with Satan being the main figure, repeated various aspects of her traumatic upbringing and constantly taunted her about her impulses and previous behavior.  She had worked with numerous other therapists but all had included her mother in the sessions which kept Sarah from speaking freely.  Also, she had been repeatedly told that her hallucinations were a result of a chemical imbalance and were never explored by any clinician.

As I said earlier, Sarah approached her therapy like it was a new “program” to adopt. The first task of our ‘program’ was to locate her voices as internal and caused by strong, overwhelming feelings, wishes or conflicts.  She was able to partially “get with this program” right away and began to refer to her “eternal conflicts” and angrily told me that the voices and ghosts were expressing what was important to her. 

From early on, I made somewhat simple, common sense interpretations. She would come in with pages of notes for discussion.  They contained either recent or past hallucinations that she found upsetting and we would spend hour after hour discussing them.  A common example from early on was “ Satan and his ghosts are floating around the room talking about how much I love drugs”.  She would protest to me about how she’s happily clean for over 5 years and would never go back to using.  She then would recite horror stories and close calls from her nearly 20 years of using.  I would suggest that her drug use was on her mind and maybe she had mixed feelings.  She would protest that she feels nothing but disgust for using and for those who do.  I would gently ask if maybe she liked something about it, considering she continued for so long. She then was able to explain how she loved and craved the high and was never able to have sex without using cocaine or alcohol – this is still true to this day. In response to our discussion, the particular hallucination would usually stop and soon be replaced by a different version. 

Next time the ghosts would be floating and taking the form of penises and her ex-husband.  The ghosts would taunt her about how they had awakened the soul of her ex-husband and she was craving him.   Sometimes ghosts could be hovering at her crotch telling her how much they wanted her.   We would repeat the same pattern.  I would interpret that maybe she was having sexual feelings or missing her ex.  She would deny conscious desire for sex and tell me how she has happily given it up since she became sober.  She would further explain how from her childhood molestations to her adult promiscuity and her tendency to connect with abusive men, that her sexuality was nothing but trouble.  I would bring up the idea of having mixed feelings and she would acknowledge that she used to really enjoy sex and possibly does miss it. The hallucinations would again shift. We analyzed various appearances of Satan and connected him back to her father.  Her episodes would last from days to weeks.  We generally went on like this for the first 2 and a-half years.  She reported getting great relief from the therapy and feeling grateful someone was willing to get in there with her and really explore the hallucinations. 

She would often have me write down certain interpretations and then in subsequent sessions tell me how she had taken what I said and argued down the voices using state law, the dictionary, and her rights as a free person guaranteed in the Constitution.  I would hear long stories of the arguments; the voices would tell her to go take out all her money from the bank and buy crack as they knew how much she wanted it.  She would curse at them and remind them how she has free choice under the Constitution and she values keeping her money for her kids.  Later, the voices would say “go kill your son”.   She would curse again and tell them it violates state law and she loves her son.  While precluding development and explorations of the transference at that time, she was able to use her notes, my notes, and our repetitive, structured sessions to build an egoized outline of her “psychoses” as she likes to call it.  She often began sessions stating “I’m sorry but we need to get way into my psychosis today”.  By early on in the treatment she had surpassed Nash by mounting an intellectual analysis of her symptoms. 

Meanwhile, I progressively became more bored and tired during the sessions. Her habit of bringing in and reading from pages of written notes kept us from having much affective or spontaneous connection.  It was as if together we just worked on decoding the voices without touching their source.  Even though we talked constantly about the historic background of the voices and how often the original imprint expressed by the voices were from her mother or father, there was a falseness. Right behind her “getting with the therapy program” was a lingering belief in the true realism and power of the voices.  I began to suspect that my actual role for her was to give her better ammunition to resist and beat the voices in their arguments. 

One session, about a year ago, she came in with her notes as usual and told me how she reacted to the noises that her hallucinations of Satan were making which were so loud that her daughter could hear them too.  I became annoyed and asked if she really felt the voices were so real her daughter could hear them.  She replied that that is the hardest part of the program to adopt and deep down she continues to believe that the voices are really haunting spirits.  Continuing to be annoyed (my annoyance was mostly from feeling complied with and lied to) I asked if she would be better served seeking an exorcism. 

This angered and horrified her and she assured me that she needs mental, not spiritual help.  In later sessions, she talked about her anger at me for threatening to give up on her and trying to send her back to church which she considers having brainwashed her.  We were also able to have a discussion about how she still would rather believe the voices were spiritual rather than psychological.  We connected this to her mother’s primitive and brutal imposition of religion on her.  Examples included blaming her and the devil for her father molesting her and telling her that when she saw red it was the devil.

In the following weeks, she began to express frustration about the continued intensity of the hallucinations despite our thorough analysis.  I was still struggling with boredom and frustration about the notes and my feeling that we were increasingly stuck and working on an overly cognitive, false level.  I decided to make a second attempt to get her to drop the notes. 

During the first year of the therapy, I  had attempted to get her to give up the notes.  At that time, she tried for a few days but soon was asking if she could again look at the notes to help her remember specific hallucinations she wanted to understand.  Soon she was back to reading from her agenda the entire session. When I asked about it, she said that the therapy helped most when she could analyze the exact content of her psychosis.  At that time she also indicated that she was afraid of me as a male.  She seemed helped by my reassurances of safety however she could not yet discuss her feelings.  I dropped the issue for the next year plus.

Going back to a year ago, I again suggested not using the notes in response to her feeling that the hallucinations weren’t going away.  I suggested that her tightly scripting the sessions could be keeping us from looking at certain things which might occur to her were we to talk spontaneously.  She was able to express her fear that, without her notes, she would become just a “Charlie’s Angel”.  This was a reference to her reaction to the split in her father.  While he was physically and verbally abusive to his family in private, she described his social persona as “Brady Bunch like” and he demanded neat, quiet, disciplined children who would never speak provocatively or out of turn.

Being a Charlie’s Angel with me meant she couldn’t speak freely about the raw, sexual, and guttural content of the voices.  She was convinced that without the notes documenting text of the hallucinations, that she would sit with like a quiet proper school girl and we wouldn’t get anything done.  I suggested she try it and that if she forgot everything, then we could learn a lot figuring out what had happened.

This time it worked.  For the first 8 months, she has carried the notes but left them in her pocket.  A couple of times she has become very agitated and fondled the notes and smoked cigarettes during the session but has not again read from them.  She has not had any trouble talking and the sessions are now much more lively and spontaneous.  I am no longer tired and bored and have even felt affectionate towards her for the first time. 

Without the notes, the silent aspects of the transference started to become accessible and the dynamics leading to her psychosis became more clear as I did not act in the expected persecutory role.  Into the place of expected persecution, her own desires for a different type of a relationship were allowed to develop.

The first significant “post-note” event was an erotic dream.  She had reported dreams previously but they were usually similar to her hallucinations.  The content would be voices, or her ex-husband persecuting her in some way, or she would be reliving using drugs.  She was very excited about this new dream as it was really erotic; she was turned on by her partner and they together figured out what to do.  She said she hadn’t had a dream like that in 20 years.  Previously, she was only able to fantasize and enjoy her sexuality while intoxicated.  What was so unique to her was that she was doing things that turned her on and was not being forced; her desire was in charge.  This connected with an ongoing theme from her arguments with the voices- she was in charge of her body and had free will.  For a while after this dream she had no sexual hallucinations.  I excitedly interpreted that maybe if she could re-claim her own sexuality, according to  her standards and desires, then maybe the voices would no longer persecute her with it. 

We also revisited an earlier and ongoing interpretation of mine.  She had insisted that she “threw away her sexuality” after divorcing her husband and quitting drugs.  I had repeatedly interpreted that this is not possible and what she throws away winds up coming back in the form of hallucinations.  We also looked at this in terms of anger, especially at her mother with whom she retained a superficially compliant relationship.

Additionally, around this same time,  she began to hear her own voice amid the other voices.  We talked about this as a transitional stage of her taking back control of her mind.  Sometimes her voice says the same things as the other hallucinations and sometimes it argues with them.  Recently she noticed her voice saying things just like her mother and then apologizing as her mother would.  She was able to notice how she had internalized her mother’s way of thinking and became more aware of her mother’s psychotic and manipulative behavior in the present.  Further, she has begun to stand up to her mother for the first time, including recently threatening to sue her when her mother tried to manipulate $800 away from her. 

About a month later, she purchased a computer for her family. She loved it and talked frequently about her daughter and she figuring out how to work it and navigate the internet.  One day, in answer to a question she had,  I  showed her a reference site on the internet using the computer atop my desk.  She came closer to look at the screen and then sat back down in her chair.  The next session she reported a dream of me being at her home and the two of us reading her computer manual and working on a problem with her new computer.  All of a sudden we were in bed with the computer and she woke up very upset.  Discussing the dream she was conscious of how much she enjoyed talking to me about the computer and wanted me to be reassured that she only had proper feelings towards me.  

Soon after this dream, she began to associate to how, as a teenager, she actively sought boys who would replay the exact scenarios of her molestation and she would day dream about being molested during school. This is the sexuality she wanted to throw away.  We contrasted it to her first erotic dream which was about her desire instead of repeating the abuse scenario in which she was a passive victim.

Over the next few months, we continued to integrate the 2 major insights outlined above; the fact that her sexuality had been taken over by the desires of the adults who molested her as a  child and secondly, that many of the patterns and structures of her psychotic thought process are actually internalizations of her mother’s psychotic manner of thinking and abusive treatment.

 A number of months ago, Sarah brought up a Newsweek article on schizophrenia which she had read.  She noticed how she had largely the same symptoms as the people in the article- non-stop audio and visual hallucinations including commands from God, the voice of Satan and some of the same earlier traumas; yet, somehow, she was not so impaired.  She knew not to take her hallucinations so seriously.  We talked about how this started and traced it back to her early years where despite horrible abuse, she once ran to the police after her father beat her.  The police brought her home and lectured her father about not hitting his kids.  He stopped for a  while.  She appealed to an outside authority and it made a difference.  Also, we talked about how during her therapy she has successfully used the existence of the US Constitution and state law, as well as threatening to call me or the police on the voices to limit their intensity.  This apparently helped her maintain an authority outside and beyond her psychosis and contributed to her relatively easy acceptance of the idea that her voices came from her own mind.

Yet, even as her insight into the sources of the voices increased,  the hallucinations continued relatively unabated as did my concern that I  was unwittingly providing ammunition for her to fight delusional battles with Satan.  In response to  her expressing frustration about continued symptoms,  I asked directly about why she thought she was so attached the voices.  Her associations led to feeling special due to being chose by Satan, her love for Satan and other biblical figures and ultimately back to her covert enjoyment of her father’s attention.  

My first response to this new data regarding her enjoyment of the voices was to interpret and normalize her attachment to her father.   I also began to subtly and not so subtly suggest that she develop a social life and consider resuming a career.   I explained this idea in terms of both providing new memories and experiences as well as breaking up her assumptions about relationships expressed in her hallucinations and dreams.  Initially she angrily rejected my ideas.   She was worried that school or work could hurt her disability payments or worse that she would repeat her history of abusive relationships.  Over the next couple of months, we talked through both worries and I reinforced the idea that she had learned enough so that she was not likely to blindly repeat her mistakes of the post.  We repeatedly talked about the traits she desired in potential friends or lovers. 


One night, about a month ago, her voices were so intense she was ready to try just about anything.  She thought of my suggestion to get more social and talked to a neighbor who goes out regularly and arranged to go dancing with her at a nearby club.  She did so and spent 5 hours drinking soda, dancing and talking with various men and women.   Miraculously, she did not experience a single hallucination during her time out and proclaimed that I was actually right all along about how getting a social life could help.  She also began to notice that the voices were at their worst 

when she was home alone and has entered another period where she notices her hallucinations repeating insights from our meetings. 

As she begins to build what Dr. Turk would term the ‘social link’ we are having to struggle with her attraction to her delusional world.  She often repeats my comment from a year ago that ‘she has paid a high price for her delusion’.  We talk about how powerfully seductive it is to be chosen by the ‘king of evil and god of the earth’;  to have him living in her unconscious mind; and to see his penis and masturbate together.   From these discussions we are gaining an understanding that one of the major factors sustaining Sarah’s hallucinations and fascination with them has been loneliness and the pleasure derived from her special place in relation to the powerful other.

As I wrote this paper, I was continuously aware of how obvious many of my interpretations to Sarah might seem.  She saw a hallucination of a penis, and I interpreted sexual feelings.  Voices tell her things that she disagrees with and I interpret the presence of conflict.  I am reminded of Freud’s comments from his analysis of the Schreber case about the possible role of psychoanalysts in treating psychotic delusions.  He encouraged 


analysts to approach psychosis “with a suspicion that even thought-structures so extraordinary as these and so remote from our common modes of thinking are nevertheless derived from the most general and comprehensible impulses of the human mind…” (Freud, 1911) Sarah’s symptoms spoke very clearly yet no previous therapist bothered to help her understand what her mind was screaming.

While it’s early in Sarah’s therapy we have come a significant way.  At the beginning of therapy she knew to ignore the commands of her hallucinations and seek help when overwhelmed.  After 3 1/2 years, she understands that the voices come from her mind and their discussion material comes from her life.  Concurrent with development of an increasingly available transference, she has begun to replace the omnipotent power of the voices with her own desires  and reestablish the social connections which will eventually replace the need for hallucinations.

Reference
Freud, Sigmund, 1911. Pscho-analytic Notes on an Autobiographical Account of a Case of Paranoia (Dementia Paranoides).  Standard Edition Vol. 12:  18

Conversations with Ms. V.

Faan Yeen Sidor, Psy.D.

Presented at the IFPE annual conference, October 27, 2002

“M

adness” has forever been a locus of curiosity and terror.  As human beings we are fascinated by what can “drive one to madness” and by what the experience itself is like.  “Madness” has even been romanticized in the character of the tortured yet brilliantly creative individual (Rosen, 1968).  Those of us who are invested in understanding natural phenomenon, including human behavior, by analyzing data, thinking methodically, and making conclusions based on scientific thinking are not immune to this fascination.  How are we to understand this human experience?  On the one hand, it is so subjective and individual an experience that no person’s madness can be the same.  On the other hand, the occurrence of these “disorders” is universal in human experience.  Furthermore, beyond understanding their experience, how can we then make a human connection with these individuals in order to alleviate their suffering?  Successful treatment of psychotic illness has been elusive.  The current treatment of psychotic states largely consists of medication management and psychosocial rehabilitation.  These treatments focus on symptom relief and reduction.  They can, in the short term, mask the manifest symptoms, thereby allowing patients to appear more compliant with social norms.  Yet this is often at the expense of a long-term solution.  Furthermore, psychologically focused treatments, which involve psychotherapy, are frequently regarded with suspicion and even disdain.  The dominance of the medical model as a way to understand human behavior as well as the increased influence of managed care on the treatment of mental illness has created an environment in which establishing a human connection with patients in treatment is difficult and often seen as unnecessary.  Why is this?  The current prevalent use of medication in the treatment of psychotic individuals may indeed be more of a benefit to others in the population rather than to the “identified patient”.  The resistance to accepting psychotherapy as an important treatment modality for psychotics serves to protect “us” from awareness of and identification with the terror that they experience.  Karon (1992) describes the resistance to psychological treatments of psychosis as the fear of understanding psychotic people.  It is more comfortable for the general population, including the mental-health community, to conceptualize psychotic individuals as having abnormal brains or abnormal brain chemistry, placing them in a “sick” category apart from the “well” population.  Moreover, addressing psychotic illness brings to the fore our inability to “know”.

Recently however, the work of Karon and VandenBos, (1981/1994) asserts that psychotherapy with psychotic individuals not only can be very successful but in fact is the treatment that is most indicated (Karon & VandenBos, 1981/1994).  Apollon, Bergeron & Cantin (1990) describe successful treatment of psychotic patients using a Lacanian perspective.  They emphasize the importance of the milieu in assisting the psychotic patient to reestablish social ties through the use and promotion of language.

The present case examines the usefulness of a psychotherapeutic approach in the treatment of a psychotic woman, Ms. V.  The treatment was circumscribed and lasted only a period of nine months; nevertheless, the creation of a space for language was useful in allowing Ms. V to begin to put words to her experience.  Furthermore, this case illustrates the importance of the Milieu in facilitating and supporting the psychotic individuals entry into speech.
Background Information

Ms. V was an attractive, middle-aged woman of slightly above-average height and medium build.  Her attire at first glance seemed suitable but, upon closer inspection, seemed slightly off balance and disarranged.  Likewise, she wore tapered, tattered heels that obliged her to walk with a slightly provocative, pretentious gait that was reminiscent of movie stars of the 40’s.  Yet her attempts at being seductive or sophisticated seemed to fall short.  She often appeared anxious, distracted, and would at times talk to herself in heated conversations.

She had been officially diagnosed with any number of major psychological illnesses, such as bipolar disorder, adjustment disorder, affective disorder, dependent personality disorder, borderline personality disorder, schizoaffective disorder, and schizophrenia.  She had been in and out of various hospitals for about 20 years with a history of 40-plus hospitalizations.  Her initial symptoms included hearing voices talking inside her head.  These voices were often critical, silly, derisive, argumentative, and confusing.  Early in her illness, Ms. V was so disturbed by these voices initially that she would bang her head against the floor or wall repeatedly in an attempt to stop the voices.  Other symptoms included thought insertion, ideas of reference, and believing that people in the television were talking to her.  Additionally, she sought to soothe herself by looking in the mirror for long periods of time, sometimes caressing or stroking herself.

More recently, Ms. V again decompensated and was hospitalized shortly after the death of her mother.  She continues to hear voices of various “people” inside her head.  She related arguing with her “girlfriends”, voices that she hears in her head, who are frequently critical and jealous.  At times she experiences other people as the locus of a voice and therefore sees that person as, for example, persecutory, critical, or jealous.  She has described believing that some of these “people” have the power to see through skin, are controlling her body, making her gain or lose weight, making her hair grow.  She also described these “people” as making her body smell, giving her diseases, controlling the way people look and talk, including her.  They can “write her whole past history” and they can take her memory away from her.  Further, she feels, at times, that her body is rotting or that her teeth are rotting.  Ms. V described having “no brain”, stating, “they took my brain out”.  When asked how her brain was taken out, she replied, “They took out the Mecatechism.”  “Before I had an intelligent brain and I used to be able to categorize things but now I can’t.”

Ms. V’s treatment in her various hospitalizations has typically consisted mainly of stabilization, mainly via medication, and then release from the hospital.  She seemed to have had few long-term therapeutic relationships during this time.  Further, it seems that she never had complete remission of her symptoms with the medication or upon past release from hospitalization.  At the time of this treatment, her most consistent relationship was with a caseworker at a social service agency that she had seen every 3-6 months for the previous 4 years.

As an infant, Ms. V experienced an early separation from her mother.  It was several months before she was able to stay with her mother.  Her mother once described Ms. V as “not very cuddly”.  There is little additional information about this early period.  It was reported that Ms. V seemed relatively adjusted as a child and began to struggle around the end of her parochial-grammar-school education.  She began having difficulty in school despite being very intelligent.  It appears that her adjustment was precarious and various stressors, such as the onset of puberty, her mother’s illness, the use of drugs, and throat surgery, were destabilizing to her.  During her early teens her life became more chaotic and unstable.  She became increasingly withdrawn from her family, spending time with “friends”, most of whom her parents did not know.  It appears that she was both difficult to control and substantially unsupervised.  As a teenager she became involved in drugs and risk-taking behaviors, such as gang association and promiscuous sexual behavior.   It was already becoming difficult at this time for her to maintain a stable life-style.  Then, in her late adolescence, Ms. V’s father died unexpectedly.  Shortly after his death she began to de-compensate and reported hearing voices.  She felt responsible for his death.  Ms. V described seeing him in the hospital with the “tubes in him” and said that she felt glad that he was suffering.  She felt at the time that she killed him by wishing that he would die.  She continues to be confused about her role in his death.

Ms. V’s family relationships had been characterized by contradiction, conflict, and ambivalence.  There were times she described her mother as “nice” and related affection and love for her mother; at other times she related her contempt and wish for her mother to be dead.  During one session she stated: “Maybe I killed my mother, maybe I loved her to death.  I think so because I was the only one crying at the funeral.  Maybe my mother loved me to death, maybe that is what happened to me.”  Furthermore, she ventured: “I think my problems killed my mother.  She died because she was always worried about my problems.  My problems made her suicidal.”  Ms. V’s relationship with her mother was often tumultuous.  Her mother suffered from various physical disabilities.  She described her mother as having “bad legs” and later in her life being unable to walk, needing to use a wheelchair.  Ms. V was fearful that the same fate would befall her.  Moreover, she had fears regarding her father’s frequent angry reactions to her mother’s physical limitations.  Apparently her parents would often fight about her mother’s inability to walk.  After her father died, Ms. V and her mother were often at odds, often pertaining to Ms. V’s illness and treatment.  During these fights Ms. V would sometimes become violent, breaking and throwing things.  Ms. V similarly describes alternately loving and hating her father.  His behavior towards her seems to have been parallel.  “My father would say he loved me but then he would beat me up.”  Ms. V talked of physical abuse she endured by both her father and her brother.  She recalled incidents such as her father punching her in the face while sitting on her legs.  She remembers her nose bleeding but stated, “It wasn’t that bad”.  She also related being physically and sexually abused by her brother.  “Yeah.  He beat me up.  Dad beat me up.  My brother would beat me up and then he wanted Nookie Nookie.  You know, incest is not something I like.”  She alluded to sexual abuse at the hands of her father but never specifically stated such.  “My mother made me up to be a model and actress and my father made me up to be a prostitute, pretty stupid parents making up such a sexy daughter.”  She likened herself to Jon Benet Ramsey (a young girl who was involved in beauty pageants and later was sexually assaulted and murdered in her home; her parents were suspects).  “My mom used to dress me up real cosmopolitan.”  The idea of being “made up” had become incorporated into her internal belief system as she also described “making people up” or “transforming” people, revealing the imaginary tone of her internal experience.
Apparently, overall, Ms. V’s physical health was good.  However, she did have throat surgery as a teenager.  On the surface, this surgery seemed relatively minor and she had no residual physical problems.  However, her belief system contained images that were reminiscent of the surgery.  More specifically, she often hears a voice in her head that she calls Jane Doe who has had her head cut off.  Ironically, although headless, Jane Doe “knows everything and can hear everything”.  Ms. V is frightened of this voice.  Ms. V at times also made references to Jane Mansfield, who died by being decapitated in a car accident.  Ms. V recollected that, when Jane Mansfield died, there was a picture of her decapitated body in the newspaper and her mother showed it to her.  The picture frightened her.  Ms. V would have been quite young at that time.

Milieu

Ms. V was treated on the long-term unit in a state hospital.  The patients on the unit were mainly individuals suffering from severe pathology, mostly psychotic disorders.  These patients were manifestly the most uncooperative in the hospital and they had made little or no progress towards discharge.  Furthermore, their symptoms were the most unremitting and their chronic difficulties were seen as refractory to treatment.  Most patients were seen as having what were referred to as “fixed delusions”.  This psychological term was used as a euphemism for the staff’s pessimism about the potential for change.  The majority of the patients on the unit were actively hallucinating and paranoid.  As a result, some patients were unable to converse rationally at all.  Embedded in the culture of the unit was the staff’s manifest disdain for the patients (perhaps a screen for their fear of the patients), which made the possibility for interpersonal connection remote.  The environment was physically restrictive but not emotionally containing.  The main focus of treatment on the unit was medication management, some psycho-educational groups, and behavioral approaches to promote socially appropriate behavior and compliance with unit rules.  When patients were not compliant, staff members on this unit often seemed to regard the patients as being either lazy or manipulative.
Ms. V had been in the hospital for two years when I began working with her.  The staff informed me that she had “greatly improved” since her admission and that this improvement was largely a result of the use of the “proper medication”.  According to staff, Ms. V was currently dressing less provocatively and was aware of, and mostly compliant with, the rules of the unit.  She had earned privileges, such as an independent walk and activities off the unit, and attended and enjoyed these activities consistently.  It was clear that Ms. V was settled in a routine.

When I came to know her, Ms. V’s most prominent symptom was hearing many voices inside her head that she described as “people inside her”.  These voices were almost always present and they would say things that were often critical or disturbing and, at other times, were less threatening and even funny.  Sometimes these voices would “make her say things” that she did not want to say.  Outwardly, Ms. V would often appear to be talking to herself.  Her manner of speaking was idiosyncratic and was often characterized by a marked detachment from her own experience of her self and her life.  Yet she seemed to experience a high degree of anxiety.  Ms. V was aware that others viewed her behavior as “abnormal” and “mentally ill”.  In conversations with others she would commonly talk about the “goings on” in her head.  Her words were invariably experienced by staff as manifestations of her “fixed delusions” and thus were heard as nonsense.  Correspondingly, Ms. V would describe these utterances as “talking mentally ill”.  Ms. V had few if any interpersonal connections with individual staff or patients, although some of the other patients and some staff were incorporated into her delusional system.

Beginning of Treatment

I came to Ms. V’s unit in the state hospital as a part of a requirement for my clinical psychology-training program.  I was to provide individual and group psychotherapy to the patients residing there for a period of nine months.  The response by the staff to my desire to engage in a therapeutic relationship with Ms. V and other patients vacillated, for the most part, between effortful tolerance of my naiveté and disregard.  It was clear that my efforts to connect with this patient, or any other patient for that matter, would not be encouraged and perhaps not even be supported by the staff on the unit.  There were times later in the treatment when staff would inquire, “What do you talk to her about?” with an expression that conveyed disbelief, disdain, and some level of exasperation.

When the unit psychologist informed Ms. V that she would be assigned to me for psychotherapy, she responded by saying that she did not want to talk to me.  I was new to the setting and to working with patients with such profound disturbance and I was unsure of what to expect.  I was optimistic that I would find ways to relate.  This presumption was based in part on reading of effective psychotherapeutic treatment of severely disturbed individuals by use of psychoanalytically informed therapies and in part on my naiveté.  The gravity of the patients’ predicament in their lives was immediately apparent to me and I was moved by their fortitude and stamina.  At the same time I was somewhat overwhelmed by their level of disturbance and the degree of chaos and hostility on the unit.  Upon the news that she did not want to talk to me, my visceral reaction was a feeling of helplessness and rejection, wondering if any of the patients would want to talk to me.  Yet I thought maybe Ms. V. needed to “check me out”, to observe me on the unit and see what I was like.  I imagined if I had been in her position, with a history of dealing with a multitude of mental-health professionals, I might not be that willing to talk to someone new.  I thought that this could be interpreted as a healthy impulse and was to be respected.  I continued to make an effort to comport myself on the unit in a non-threatening, respectful manner.  This behavior however did not endear me to the staff.  They saw me as “green”.  They were polite but made comments from time to time about how I should “handle” patients.

A few days later I introduced myself to her in passing and asked if she might want to meet and talk sometime and she responded, “Yeah, maybe”.  I approached her at a time that she was on her way off the unit for an independent walk.  I had not thought the timing out consciously.  However, in retrospect, the fact that she was able to “escape” quickly may have made it easier, perhaps less threatening, for her to agree.  Her sensitivity was already very clear and I was aware that I needed to remain non-intrusive.

At first, we began meeting in the form of walks around the hospital grounds for short times of perhaps 15-minutes duration.  We would also talk some in the day room on the unit.  The treatment began as very “loose”.  We met when she was willing to meet and for the amount of time that she felt comfortable.  It felt unstructured and I was concerned about creating a more secure therapeutic “frame”.  Was it permissible to meet in such a “haphazard” way?  There was no formal initial interview, taking a social history, etc.  We just began to talk and slowly got to know one another.  Yet in terms of aspects of the frame that involved my responsibility and consistency, such as attention, openness, containment, and attendance of sessions, it was more secure.  I was aware that if I imposed any expectations and rules, in terms of time, place, and length of sessions, she might not meet with me at all.  Ms. V being in control was a prerequisite for the beginning of treatment.  She needed to determine my credibility, whether or not I was going to be another persecutor or murderer.  Ms. V had been a patient in the mental-health system for many years, undergone a plethora of different treatments and treatment providers, thus, her hesitation to form a new relationship seemed reasonable to me.  Expanding the parameters of what is acceptable in terms of treatment seemed appropriate here.

I was unsure how she viewed our meetings.  Even though it was clear from the beginning that our meeting was not a simple social interaction, I wasn’t sure it was therapy either.  I was not sure she viewed our relationship as therapeutic until she spontaneously related to me a goal.  She wanted to be able to have a conversation.  She stated that she did not know how to have a conversation.

Initially, I was mostly listening as Ms. V talked about the various characters that were voices in her internal world.  There seemed to be clusters of associations with threads of connection.  However, these connections eluded me.  For example, she related knowing Madonna (a popular rock and roll musician) and Seka (an actress in pornographic films).  She said that she had “made them up”.  She stated that Seka was a giant and had skin that was smooth like rubber.  Ms. V said that she used to be a model and had modeled for a few years.  She talked about modeling and her “jealous girlfriends”.  She would go on telling stories about various “people”, describing what they said or did and her reactions to them.  Some of these people were famous people who exist in reality, such as Madonna, Seka, Curtis Mayfield (a famous musician), whose voices she would hear internally.  Others seemed to be people in her family, such as her sister-in-law, nieces, Aunt Annie, little grandma, etc.  Then she would sometimes talk about people for whom I did not know of a real relation to her, such as her girlfriends, Michele, Sherri, Barbara, and boyfriends.  Some of the voices she heard were particularly frightening, such as Jane Doe.  Jane Doe had her head cut off but she “knows” everything.  “There is a Jane Doe in every state.”  At times some voices seemed to be fused together.  For example, she related that Gerri, God, and Will were all the same.  Gerri had three faces.  One was a child’s face, one was a threatening face, and one had a mustache and was able to pop his mustache in and out.  One of the faces was “real prejudice” and had skin like a snake.  She felt inhabited by these voices and disturbed by their trespasses.  A case in point was when she related that Will, who was a serpent, hissed through her throat.

Having a conversation was made so much more difficult for her with the intrusions of these different voices.  As she would speak I just listened, responding carefully and often nonverbally.  Although, manifestly, what she was saying often did not make sense to me, it had meaning to her.  She knew what I only hoped to know.  I continued to believe there must be some remote connections between seemingly unrelated topics.  I often felt very confused, knowing there was meaning that escaped me.  I decided to try to understand and remember what she was talking about so that at some point I might be able to form some rudimentary connections.  However, asking questions for clarification or to alleviate my confusion was sometimes upsetting to her.  She would at times ignore the question and go on as if I had said nothing or look irritated or even disgusted.  There were times when she would look at me as though a question I had asked was exceedingly stupid.  I was aware of her feeling intruded upon by any questions, so I often just continued to listen.  Yet, my quietness and listening was also disturbing to her.  During one session she asked, “Why are you so quiet?”  “Why don’t you talk?”  “I want you to talk more.”  I remarked that perhaps she felt that I was not holding up my end of the conversation.  I related that perhaps she was right and I needed to be more active.  I felt stuck, unsure of how to respond.  Perhaps this is how she felt?

During a session soon after, voicing similar concerns, she remarked: “My sister-in-law thinks something is wrong with me but nothing is wrong with me.  She thinks I’m mentally ill. Maybe you think I am mentally ill, but nothing is wrong with me.”  She often commented on my demeanor or expression.  At this point she said to me, “You are getting defensive”.  I considered the fact that I may be defensive and remarked as such.  Yet it was also clear that she was being defensive.  At times she would experience me as behaving or feeling in accord with her own state.  At other times she was able to evoke in me an experience or reaction that was similar to her experience.  Ms. V’s lack or permeability of ego boundaries was apparent in these interchanges.  I felt at times that there was no room to move, no space.  If I was too quiet that was threatening to her.  Perhaps it felt as though I had left her.  Yet responding to her verbally could be experienced as threatening as well.  I also felt her desire and pressure to connect.  I was aware of a very delicate balance and inferred that this was the bind that she experienced in relationships with others, past and present.

Her sensitivity to my internal states was often evident.  I had come to work one day during this time, not feeling well.  I knew that the day would be difficult and that I would have to make a greater effort on this day to be present.  We met for our session and much of the material she was talking about was about murderers and killing people, including “a guy who stabbed a girl in the neck”.  Ms. V also talked about her mother in negative terms and then related how I was similar to her mother.  She remarked about my facial expression several times:  “Why are you frowning? You look like you are frowning.”  “You are too serious.”  “You are thinking too hard.”  She was right.  She didn’t feel that I understood her.  I was struggling to stay with her. “You are asking a bunch of nosey questions, trying to get into my head.  You know Susan.  Me and Sherry and Susan posed for nude pictures.  I’m gonna do that again when I get out of here.”  Perhaps she was feeling exposed by my “nosey” questions.  Who might she pose for when she gets out of here?  Her mother?  Me?  Did she feel like she was posing for me now?

She was aware of my needing to make a greater effort to stay with her on this particular day but maybe felt that this had something to do with her.  Finally, she decided, “I don’t want to talk anymore”, got up and walked away quickly.  I got up to follow her and was struggling to catch up.  She turned around and said impatiently, “Come on!”. Once I caught up, we walked together for a short while, quietly.  Then I proffered, “You know, I am really tired today”.  Ms. V looked at me.  “I’m really glad you said that”, she replied.

Ms. V was clearly aware that I could not keep up with her during our session.  She expressed her frustration and anger both directly and derivatively.  Then later, when I continued to lag behind, she made it clear by creating a physical enactment where I could not physically keep up.  She wanted me to catch up to her, she was urging me to “come on”, hurry up to her.  Although, in the moment, I was unaware of what was happening – how my having to run to catch up with her was an enactment of how I could not keep up psychologically – I was aware that she was disappointed and that I was not at my best.  My response had to do with my desire to “own” my contribution.  My admission that I was tired was a relief and validation for her.  She did not have to assume responsibility for my withdrawal, or slowness. Ms. V’s possible projections of more destructive, hostile images onto me were defused.  My acknowledgement of my tiredness meant that I was not dead.  It also meant that my “frowning”, “thinking too hard”, was not an indication of malevolent intentions.  It became much simpler for her and she expressed her relief.

Around this same time our sessions began to be more consistent in terms of frequency, time, and place.  Ms. V seemed to be more engaged in the process.  Sessions consisted of Ms. V relating her experience and my continuing attempt to stay attuned yet far enough away for her to feel safe and to remember and look for some connections between the experiences she was relating.  She showed me a picture of the geese that she had drawn.  She said that she enjoyed watching the birds outside.  She was glad that she could do that.  “Nature was bad for about 10 years”, she said.  “The birds sounded electrified and what that was didn’t sound good to me.”  Did “electrified” represent an ‘affective charge’?  Maybe, when “nature was bad”, this was a time when everything felt charged with overwhelming emotion.  In addition, perhaps she had a limited buffer between herself and the world, too thin of a stimulus barrier.  Her sensitivity was already evident in our interactions.  Was this why her mother described her as “not very cuddly”?  Her family life had no doubt been emotionally overwhelming.  She had been the object of others’ desires and projections, which they acted out in abusive behaviors and which were in turn traumatizing to her.  “Cops give you a hard time.  I was on that show...’Cops’.”  “Things have happened to you in the same way as on the show?”, I asked.  She did not reply to this directly but said rather: “People don't like people with mental illness because they are a menace to society.  People here feel that way.  They used to put people in boiling oil when they were mentally ill.  People say that prostitutes are mentally ill.  Cops treat you bad, beat you up and stuff, smoke a cigarette in front of you and then say that you can’t have one.  But if you have sex with them they give you what you want.  But then other girls get mad at you, get real jealous, break the rules and don’t give you your stuff like take your pillows and blankets.”  It was apparent that she had felt used and persecuted in her life and been subject to psychological double binds.  The only way she could get her needs met was to prostitute herself, and even then others would be mad and jealous and she would be abused nevertheless.  Was she describing a circumstance with her parents, wherein her father sexually abused her and her mother was jealous?  Was she also describing her experiences in the hospital?  Her fears about her potential experiences with me?  Equally important, Ms. V was describing her experiences of others’ lack of prohibition.  “Cops”, who serve the role in our society as enforcing the rule of law, for her were felt to be exploitive and abusive.  She has experienced people, even “cops”, as having no restrictions in their behavior towards her.  Even further, the only way to relate to others and have some hope of getting needs met is sexual and this was also wrought with the potential for harm.

During this same session, Ms. V expressed her wish to be good at art and that art was the only class she had attended in high school. She always thought she couldn’t be good at it because “you have to learn it when you are young”.  Perhaps she was unsure about her ability to express herself.  There was a desire for expression that she felt somehow could not be recaptured.

A pattern of sessions had begun to emerge whereby, after sessions when Ms. V was particularly engaged with me, she often seemed more disorganized and anxious during the next session.  She might talk about religious topics, alluding to relationships with Bhagwan (referring to Bhagwan Shree Rajneesh, a “cult” leader from the 1970’s), Jesus, and Mohammed.  During the conversation she might say to herself or to me under her breath, “you’re so stupid”, and also more audibly, “I’m so stupid”.  She was very keyed in to my reactions to her; if I frowned in my effort to follow what she was saying and to stay with her, she would react, stating that I was getting defensive or upset or thinking too hard.  At the end of a session she might say that she was embarrassed and that she did not know how to have a conversation, calling herself a bum.  My thoughts were that she was exquisitely sensitive and attuned to my reactions to her.  She used any evidence in my behavior to support her projection of how others have behaved towards her.  I was serving a function for her by being interested and by engaging in conversation about her experience.  But at times my interest in her would become a threat.  I sometimes had concerns and uneasiness about what I might have said or done to trigger her anxiety.  She was sensitive to my reactions and perceived my concerns as defensiveness.  Defensive against what?  Did she fear that I was attempting to murder her, like the voices in her head?  At these times she became defensive as well.  Her disorganization served to create a distance between us.  It was important for me to allow her to be disorganized and to de-compensate if necessary and not to defend myself against this.  Furthermore, it was important for me to soothe myself, not be an assaultive or intrusive presence.  My ability to be a calming presence for her was limited owing to her violent projections onto me.

Searles (1979, p. 6) describes the experience in attempting to explore and discuss the experience of a schizophrenic individual.  He reflects on his own feelings of despair and anxiety, relating it to the experience of an individual who is “at a loss for reliable organizing principles to render meaningful and manageable the chaotic perceptions that assail him”.  Searles (1979, p. 6) further states that the schizophrenic individual “has no reliable way of knowing whether what he is perceiving is part of an inner, fantasy world, or part of an outer, real world; whether it is something that exists in present or past or future time; whether it is alive or unalive, human or not human; and so on”.  Ms. V did not have healthy parents to function as a guide, buffering and interpreting her perceptions.  Instead, she was given conflicting messages and was subject to double binds.  For example, her father asserted that he loved her while at the same time abusing her.  As a result, her experience was chaotic and confusing.  As we began to talk, this experience was conveyed to me through both words and experiences.  I often experienced extreme confusion in my attempts to comprehend what she was saying.  It was difficult at times to “stay with” her and maintain my attention in the face of the confusion and her intense, painful affects.  During these times I would defensively withdraw and become quiet.  At times when I was silent, not knowing what to say, I felt paralyzed, unsure how to respond to the confusing conversation. Racker (1981) describes revengeful silences as being evidence of an aggressive sadistic response on the part of the therapist.  My withdrawal from her was in part a result of anger.  I wanted to be able to help and to be effective as a therapist and I felt so helpless in response to her.  She would point out my inability and relate her disappointment.  At these times I vacillated between feelings of guilt and angry withdrawal.

It continued to be clear that all that she was telling me, although it seemed manifestly to make little sense, had important meaning to her.  If I was to discern these meanings I would first have to familiarize myself with whom and what she was talking about.  I attempted to remember the names of people, places and events that she was describing.  I found this a difficult and exhausting task.  It was a great effort to pay attention to what she was talking about and then after the session attempt to reconstruct and organize the information in a way that I might remember it.  Perhaps some of the difficulty was the content of the material she was discussing.  It was often provocative, chaotic, and laden with violent hostile images.  In some ways it may have been intended, at some level, to push me away, to create a distance.  The animosities between some of the voices, the pain and horror of some of the descriptions, and the chaos that she would live with on a daily basis had an impact on me.  It was unsettling to feel the degree of her anguish, fear, and confusion.  I became more aware of the exploitation, persecution, and abuse I assume she must have endured.  This was conveyed to me derivatively through her various stories.  It was at times difficult to bear.  My strain in listening during the session continued to be visible to her at times.  After a number of sessions in which Ms. V continued to describe the various relationships, events, and workings of the “people” in her internal world, I was beginning to gain more of a handle on some of the things she was talking about.  As I had observed earlier, her exquisite sensitivity to my internal states was again evident.  She said to me, “You are remembering me”.

Persecutory Anxiety, Erotomania, and Perceived Threat

One day, early in the treatment, Ms. V requested that I go on her independent walk with her.  We went for a walk and talk.  She was very talkative and seemed anxious to have me listen.  She went to have a cigarette outside.  She sat and I stood.  She was talking about much of what she had described to me in the past.  Suddenly, however, she said, “I don’t like you”.  I told her that I liked her.  She seemed surprised and pleased.  However a short time later she said, “I feel like punching you”.  Karon & VandenBos (1981/1994) have described that, in the treatment of psychotic individuals, threatening behavior is a response to fear.  I was aware of my own fear in response to her statement.  Yet I did not feel in danger.  Perhaps my affective experience was congruent with her current affective experience.  Karon & VandenBos (1981/1994, p. 192) stated that a threatening patient is always more frightened than the therapist and the threat is a way of creating a distance between herself and others.  I asked her if she felt angry with me or afraid of me.  She replied, “Yeah, people get to know you so that they can harm you”.  She said that she felt that I was threatening her.  “I think you want to harm me or have sex with me.”  She asserted: “A lot of women want to have sex with me.  I don’t have sex with women.”  I assured her that I did not want to have sex with her and did not have sex with women either.  I stated that I wanted to get to know her and understand her.  I stated that I had no intention of harming her.  Although as I said this I considered my words, using the word “intention” specifically, knowing I very well may injure her in some way inadvertently, for example, in the event of forced termination of treatment.  My statement earlier in the session that I “liked” her felt like a threat to her.  In the past, care or interest shown for her was often coupled with abuse, physical or sexual, and this was what she anticipated from me.

For Ms. V, caring concern could result in either persecutory anxiety or an erotomanic delusion, neither of which benefited her.  When she felt cared for, she felt seduced.  She sometimes experienced therapy with me as a seduction.  

Alternatively, during instances where I was more reserved or overly inquisitive, she would experience me as threatening or intrusive, evoking persecutory anxiety.  In response she would then becoming defensively paranoid.  The material she would present during these times was often violent.  Alternatives to comforting responses would prove to be more useful.  In particular, engaging in speech around her delusional experience.

Talking Crazy

As I remembered and understood more about her internal world and constructions, as I knew more of her experience of her life, what some of the “people” she was hearing meant to her, and some of their connections, we could talk to one another.  She had allowed me to some degree to enter her world.  Our sessions took place in the canteen, a lunchroom with various vending machines; a public place.  We always sat in the same place, except when someone was in that spot, in which case we would choose an alternate place.  Although there was more structure to our meetings, they were still in some ways ‘uncontained’ in terms of the setting and time.  She allowed me to ask some questions and comment on some of what she said but still made it clear when I had gone too far.  I was aware that our discourse felt more comfortable.  Despite the early discomfort, we were having conversations.  Sometimes people were within earshot.  I was more familiar with aspects of her internal world.  We talked knowingly about the various people she was hearing and her often-bizarre experiences.  I became aware that to an outside listener our conversations might sound crazy.  It occurred to me that maybe I was crazy too.  Maybe our sessions were not helpful to her at all and I had simply begun “talking crazy” as well.  Boundaries had become blurred and I was not sure who had trouble having a conversation –  Ms. V or myself.  These doubts and concerns were useful in understanding her experience of the world.  Surely this must be some of her experience as well, wondering what others are thinking about what you are saying, feeling unsure if you are okay, feeling alienated because everything that makes perfect sense to you makes no sense to others, and feeling stupid.

Ms. V’s concerns about language and her desire to be able to have a conversation extended to questions about the structure of language and words. She related concerns about her performance in academic review, a program she attended in the afternoons to study for the high-school-equivalency test.  Ms. V referred to her language concerns on numerous occasions.  For example, she said that she studied “contractions, possessives and where to put the apostrophe”.  “We took a test and I got 7 wrong.”  “My niece is 4  (the age of Ms. V) and she knows a lot of big words.”  “I want to know what she knows.”

“The problem with my writing is too many pronouns.  I need more adjectives and verbs.”  “Pronouns like he, she...?”  “Yeah…they.”
“What comes after the subject? A predator?”  “I have a book that is just about syllables.  It’s a small book.”  “We’re learning how to find the main idea in the paragraph and the teacher said that it was at the beginning but I think it can be at the beginning, middle, or end.”
Ms. V’s difficulty in structuring language was directly related to her psychological difficulties.  Having too many pronouns was a direct result of having too many voices to express.  Her speech was parasitized by other voices.  These voices interfered with her speech.  She described a voice who was disgusting and said things such as “poop, belch, pee-pee, fart”.  She then revealed that this disgusting voice bothered her and distracted her, making it hard for her speak.  She often feared that she would say what she heard this internal voice say.  Ms. V explained that she was Marilyn Monroe and the reason she believed this was because Marilyn Monroe heard this same disgusting voice in her head.  I inquired as to what she meant by this and she replied, “Because Marilyn Monroe says ‘poo-poo poopy do’”.

Ms. V began to relate more specifically the nature of the voices that she heard and her fears.  Jealous girlfriends were a continuing theme.  She related being a prostitute.  “One cop I know said I was a ‘known prostitute’.  He showed me a picture of some woman who was murdered and she was cut from her vagina to her neck and her head was almost cut off.  He showed me that picture. I did not like what that was and I ate it.”  I reflected that, sometimes when you really take something in, it feels like you eat it.  She laughed and said, “No, I ate it”.  Was this Jane Doe?  In order to get rid of the frightening picture she ate it.  If so, paradoxically, it was now inside of her.  Now one could imagine that this eviscerated and decapitated woman, once inside her, might talk through her. “I saw someone else I know on TV who was murdered.”  “My girlfriend is really bothering me lately.”  “Why do people hear voices?”  I replied that I thought this voice was a result of the fact that she was really hurt or scared and wasn’t able to talk about it or deal with it at the time.  “This voice”, I went on, “is a part of you that needs to be heard.”  I continued that, if we talked about it and dealt with the experience, maybe she wouldn’t need to hear the voice anymore.  She changed the subject and tried to deflect my comments.  I came back to the importance of talking about her experience and, as I was talking, she was saying “No, no, no, no, no, no”.  Then she related that she saw herself holding a glass brick out and someone shooting it out of her hand.  She went on.  “Some people would murder people, know how to do it and then do it.  But I don’t murder people.  It just happens.  Maybe they are sick already and probably going to die anyway.”  “You cannot kill someone with your wishes and thoughts”, I responded.  “God was in my head about 20 years ago”, she said.  “That was about when your father died”, I observed.  Then she began to talk about her father’s death and what it was like when he was in the hospital.  She spoke about her mother’s death as well.  She said she would not want to kill or be a murderer, she was a nice person and she didn’t do it.  “I even gave all those people downtown their separate apartments.”  She was confronting the idea that she might be responsible for her father and mother’s death.  Ms. V asserted that she was a nice person, gave evidence of such, and proposed that perhaps her parents were sick already.  In allowing for the possibility that she was not responsible, she was confronting her delusion.  On the way back to the unit, she speculated: “I think that was my girlfriend talking about all those things.  That was a good, interesting talk.  It was interesting what I told myself today.”
This session seemed to be either a breakthrough, or a disillusionment.  Her image of the glass brick shot from her hand represented something fragile being violently taken from her.  Was this representative of shattering of her illusion?  Her delusion?  Yet, it seemed that she was able to talk about her conflict regarding her parents’ deaths.  She wanted to believe that she is a good person but she isn’t sure.  She had begun to talk about an internal conflict.  During the next session, Ms. V told me about her life in chronological order from the age of 18.  She was completely coherent as she discussed these experiences.  She began to talk more about her illness and in a different manner.  For example, she described the little girl in the movie “Miracle on 34th Street”, stating that she thought the little girl was like her and that the woman who played the mother was her (Ms. V’s) mother.  Then she added, “You probably think that is delusional”.  We were then able to discuss her experience of the little girl and her mother in the movie and her concerns about my thinking she was delusional.

Ms. V began to talk about what she wanted to see happen in her life.  She talked about what she wanted to accomplish in her life and what she would do if she didn’t have mental illness.  She wanted to be able to get her high-school equivalency, to have a job and a nice place to live.  She described being unsure about her ability to handle a job, but she made it clear that, when she gets out of the hospital, she did not want to “just sit around, smoke, drink coffee, and talk to myself”.  Further, she was also beginning to be able to talk about her illness with me, her experience of hearing voices.

As Ms. V began to engage in speaking about her experience with me she began to be increasingly agitated and pressured when talking to me.  The pattern of our sessions was that we would begin with Ms. V wanting to talk to me and having things to talk about.  She seemed anxious to tell me about her voices, their relationships, and what was happening inside her head.  Then at some point she would feel that what she was telling me made her vulnerable and she would begin to feel threatened and anxious.  Sometimes she would feel that I went too far and asked a question that was too penetrating.  At those times she would let me know by getting angry and telling me with disgust, “You’re getting pushy!”, or: “You are so nosey!  What makes you so nosey?  Why do you want to hear about people’s problems?  You make people have problems!”  Further, the content of the sessions was increasingly about her experience with her family and with her father.  She was beginning to discuss difficult topics.  “I just keep beating myself up all the time.  I want to get out of here, leave.  I need to get in touch with my brother.  I don’t trust him.”  I replied: “Of course not.  He had done a lot of things that hurt you.”  “Him and my cousin Frankie were pretty rough with me.  They played with me on the train tracks and that is a dangerous thing that kids shouldn’t do.  They would put me under the water when we were swimming.  My brother is not a very nice person.  He was a pretty bad person.  He did bad things.  My family said that I was crazy but I think that they are crazy.  There are people parts of me that are crazy.  It is hard to talk.  I don’t want to.  There is a girl who is putting words in my mouth and making me say them.”  “I don’t want to be remembering my one-year-old.”
As I began to be more familiar with what and whom she was talking about, her anxiety about the sessions increased.  Previously, during our meetings, she would say: “I don’t want to talk about problems.  Why do you want to talk about problems? That makes me have a problem.  You are making me have a problem.”  And later: “It is knowing the knower that harms me.”  “Are you knowing me?”  “Are you remembering me?  I think you are remembering me and that’s my problem.”  “The most important person I ever knew was anonymous.”

Ms. V’s difficulty with language and not wanting to talk about problems conveyed her experience of language as being damaging.  Everything that she had to talk about was incommunicable.  Her concerns about my remembering her or knowing her may have had to do with her concerns about how I might hold her in my mind and how having her in my mind might affect me.  Perhaps she was unsure how my experience might be related to her own experience of people inside her mind.  She had related her problems about having made her mother suicidal.  Were her concerns similarly about my ability to remain intact?

She said that it was “hard to talk” and that she did not “want to”.  “I’m tired of hearing this city.  I’m tired of hearing this country.  I want to go to another country.  I don’t like therapy.  I don’t want to talk about problems.  Why can’t we just have a comfortable conversation?  It is embarrassing to talk about personal things and problems.  I don't have any problems.  You make me have problems.”

“Some voice in my head is preaching reality.”  “I don’t want to make fools out of myself.”
“Talking to you really makes me lose my freedom of speech”.  I got the sense that she began to feel that she was telling me too much and that, because we had developed a relationship, she couldn’t help but talk when we were together.  This had set up a bind for her, a wish and corresponding fear.  She wished to share things with me, to talk to me about her experiences, but the act of sharing herself with me made her very vulnerable, brought up delusional material, and this made her afraid and angry.  In addition, questions were taxing to her fragile psychical equilibrium.  In retrospect, what might have been more helpful during this time would have been to talk about talking, to engage in a conversation about the risks involved in talking to me.  The risks were real.  Her speech, conveying her experience in delusional fashion, would not be tolerated on the unit.  Talking to me made her lose her freedom to not speak.

During this time in our conversations Ms. V would become more agitated; there were times where I could feel her anxiety as a knot in my stomach.  She began to talk more quietly and to herself during the sessions.  There were times that her voice was just below the threshold that I could hear.  Other times she would be listening, shaking and nodding her head seemingly in response to what she was hearing.  When she did speak audibly, the images and topics were more dramatic in their content.  Ms. V would often be disturbed by what she had said and cover her mouth with her hand or clamp her mouth shut tight, looking frightened.  Attempts to reach her at these times were to no avail.  I often just sat with her quietly trying to be containing for her and trying to contain myself as well.  Ms. V would also relate her concerns about her appearance.  “I look like a corpse.  I look bad.”  She would state her feeling that being in the hospital made her look “fat and old”.  She related not feeling well. “I’m not feeling well.  I haven’t been feeling well.  I’m down to a whisper.”
There were many times that we had conversations where her psychosis was not as evident.  It must have been frightening to her to lower her psychotic defenses and relate to someone without them for even short periods of time.  It became clear that it was becoming more and more difficult for her to be with me and not feel besieged by voices, pressure to speak, and overwhelming anxiety.  I was concerned for her and for the therapeutic relationship.

As we began to put language to her experience, her anxiety increased.  She manifestly wanted to be able to use language, as evidenced in her continuing expression of desire to be able to have a conversation.  But engaging in speech brought up more delusional material.  As speech emerged, a struggle was inevitable as well as important.  However, the hospital milieu did not allow for this type of de-compensation in the service of moving towards later health.  The milieu did not support the examination or exploration of delusional experience.  The staff did not want to know what Ms. V experienced and did not seem to believe that it was important.  As a result, Ms. V felt uncontained and extremely anxious.  I was not able to contain her on my own.

It was at this time of increased agitation and anxiety, as she was addressing more acutely her psychotic experience, that she was also less cooperative and compliant on the unit.  Ironically, it was unacceptable to look or act “crazy” in a psychiatric hospital!  This created more friction between Ms. V and the staff and, as a result, she would lose privileges, which were particularly important to her, such as her independent walk.  Her activities of daily living (ADL’s as they were known on the unit) were poor, according to the staff, and as a result they had been more adamant about her compliance.  For example, one day there was a loud argument about whether she had taken a shower or not.  The staff member yelled across the entire unit that she had not showered so that everyone on the unit was aware of the situation.  Ms. V claimed that she had showered and that the staff had not “marked it down”.  The staff felt that she was lying, in that she did not “look clean”.  As a result, she was not able to go off the unit for the day.  I was irritated by the insensitivity and heavy handedness with which rules were enforced and I was frustrated by my own helplessness.  I did not have any explicit power on the unit.  As an extern, I was there “to learn”, and had no say in unit rules or how they were enforced.  Moreover, the staff was already dubious about my role and my therapeutic relationship with Ms. V and I was concerned that my indignation or advocacy may in fact bring further retribution to Ms. V.  I felt as though I wanted to be able to protect her from these punitive experiences with the staff.  However, I knew that this would be impossible and that, rather than protect her, my role would be to help her through it.  I was also aware that at this time Ms. V appeared more symptomatic.  She talked to herself more and at times seemed more anxious and agitated.  My experience with her had led me to believe that she was improving despite the increase in manifested symptoms.  Yet the staff would at times complain to me about her behavior, stating that she was “getting worse”.  They would assert that the psychotherapy was not helping her.  Some indications to the staff that she was “getting worse” were behaviors that were actually assertive and healthy, in my estimation.  For instance, one day Ms. V was watching the television in the day room.  However, at a certain time in the afternoon each day, the channel was turned to a particular soap opera (one that the staff followed).  On this day the staff changed the channel while she was watching a different program –  an educational program, it should be noted.  Ms. V made a fuss about this, stating that it was not fair.  She asserted, accurately, that the television was for the patients and not the staff.  This behavior was viewed as oppositional.

Shortly after the incident mentioned above, there was a staff meeting where Ms. V’s case was discussed.  I made an attempt at this meeting to discuss my psychodynamic conceptualization of the current situation and describe some of what I felt was her inner experience and the difficult work she was doing in engaging with me.  My hope was that a greater understanding of Ms. V would lead to the staff responding to her with more empathy.  However, the response was a suggestion that her medications be increased.  I was immensely frustrated and felt very alone in my stance.  I contemplated that these reactions and feelings were parallel to her own and I felt more able to connect with her frustration and empathize with her.  Speaking about my experience with staff was fruitless.  I felt that, in trying to advocate for her, I had in effect done her a disservice.  Like Ms. V, I experienced that speaking was dangerous.  I felt like covering my mouth.

Creating a New Space

Since talking was the activity that was threatening to her and to sit silently was threatening and eventually, it seemed, not even possible, drawing seemed to be a natural outlet for her.  Ms. V had also expressed her interest in art in past sessions.  I brought art materials to the unit, a bound sketchbook and colored pencils held in a portfolio.  We sat down and I explained that I had noticed that it was difficult for her to talk to me.  I related that I understood that sometimes she was in conflict about talking, she wanted to talk but talking sometimes felt scary.  I said that, when we meet for sessions, we did not have to always talk about problems.  I stated that when she didn’t feel comfortable talking, she could draw instead.  I told her that I would keep the supplies and bring them to our meetings but that they were hers.  She seemed both anxious and excited, looking flushed.  We set up a time to meet the next day.  Eventually we established a routine, me carrying the portfolio and our walking together to the canteen.  We would sit in the same area each time.  Ms. V would then take out the drawing book and colored pencils, set up the pencils, find the next page in the book, and begin to draw.

Despite Ms. V’s declaration that she was “not good at art”, she was very capable and expressive in her drawings.  Her first drawing was of a tree, barren, without any leaves, and a yellow sun.  “This is the best tree I ever drew.  Thank you for helping me draw this tree.”  Her second drawing was of a “Picasso-esque” (my description) Minotaur.  The Minotaur guards the Labyrinth in Greek mythology. This drawing seemed to show her need to protect herself and her inner world.  Her images were evocative and seemed consonant with what I already knew about Ms. V and her history.  For example, she drew the image of an “undefined” person who seemed to be behind blinds, looking frightened and urging quiet.  This picture seemed to portray her fear of speaking.  I said very little if anything during these sessions.  I would often sit silently, watching her draw, at times helping her when she was looking for a specific color.  During this time images of a mother sitting with her child while her child played quietly frequently came to mind and, with it, the importance of being “alone in the presence of another” (Winnicott, 1965, p. 30).  Ms. V was playing.  There were times when she would even hum or sing to herself while she was drawing.  At one point she began to draw a series of intersecting geometric shapes.  They were in groupings of two or three and were placed throughout the page.  Then she proceeded to outline them layer by layer, repetitively with different colors so that these shapes grew.  She related that it was “fun” for her to do this. At one point I commented that the shapes might come to connect with one another.  In response she simply smiled.

Initially during this time Ms. V would mostly be silent and deeply involved in drawing.  Gradually we began to talk as we had before.  Her anxiety around speaking had lessened.  If she did not want to speak, she could draw.  The drawing book seemed to be a container for delusional material.  Her drawings were diverse and reflected aspects of her experience.  She even began to be able to talk about some of the drawings and what they were.

During this time Ms. V began to talk about her illness and the voices she heard in a different way.  She seemed to have a little distance, a little room between herself and her experience, allowing her to discuss it more objectively.  Initially, she would describe herself as “talking mentally ill” in a self-deprecating manner after speaking in the sessions.  She was completely immersed in her psychotic experience.  Later, her manner of speaking about her illness began to be, at times, qualitatively different.  For example, she related to me during one session that she has all these people inside her and that she takes them out and puts them outside herself and into others, such as the staff, and then she sees the staff as these “people”.  Ms. V was able to put words to this experience of herself and convey this experience to me.  As a result of talking about it, the quality of the process and the experience could change.  The ability to talk about how she used projection and introjection was an advance.

Ms. V, as mentioned previously, had internalized voices of “people” who were individuals that exist in the external world but whose voices she experienced as speaking to her internally.  Some of these people are people that she had an acquaintance with, including people from her past, while others were famous people such as Madonna or Curtis Mayfield.  Further, she had described experiencing people who were on television, who she knew, or who were talking to her.  During this time I had a conversation with Ms. V where she was describing a television show that was about Curtis Mayfield, his life, and music. I was uncertain whether she was describing an experience where she is interacting with someone on TV or about a documentary featuring Curtis Mayfield.  I asked her, “Was this about the real Curtis Mayfield?”.

She replied “Yeah, it was about the real Curtis Mayfield, not my Curtis Mayfield.”  This was the first time that she had acknowledged her own internal construction of someone outside herself and noted the difference.  This seemed to mark a new ability to distinguish between what was real in the world and what was internal from a more objective stance and, even further, to share this knowledge with me.  During this time Ms. V asked me if I heard voices. I replied, “No, I just hear my own thoughts”.  “Are there other people inside you?”  “No, just me.”  “That’s what I want.”

Termination

As we came closer to the time of termination our trips to the canteen changed.  Ms. V was less invested in drawing and instead wanted to talk.  Once we got there she would often leave to go to the bathroom or have a cigarette, leaving me waiting for her and looking at her empty chair.  During these times I often felt very alone, wondering when she would come back.  Sometimes I felt used, as though she was only talking to me to get off the unit and to have an extra cigarette.  I looked at her empty chair and thought: “This is what she will feel like when I leave.  She will be the one looking at an empty chair and perhaps she will be the one who feels used.  How then will she internalize our relationship?”  Ms. V was not sure yet.  “You know I transform people.”  “I wonder if you will transform me?”  “I don’t know.”  I contemplated what I might become in her.  Would I become a voice inside her?  A jealous girlfriend?  It was unsettling.  The unsettled feelings, feeling used and concerns about being transformed, that were evoked in me informed me about how Ms. V was feeling in response to our ending.

We attempted to talk directly about my leaving, but it was difficult for both of us.  “I think we should talk about my leaving.  You know I am leaving because I have to.  My time at this job is over.  I have enjoyed working with you.”  She seemed surprised.
“Really?...But what we talked about wasn’t good.”  Ms. V’s words to me shortly before I left signified a shift in both her stance and her ability to convey her experience in words.  Ms. V was able to express her feelings in the context of her relationship with me.  She said, “I am really going to miss you when you leave in June”.  “I will miss you too”.  “Before I couldn’t wait until then, but now I’m used to meeting with you.  When you are gone who will like me?”

Conclusion

The aim of this paper has been to describe an example of how psychoanalytically informed psychotherapy is useful in the treatment of psychosis.  Ms. V’s case is one typical of many psychotic individuals currently ensconced in the mental-health system.  Despite Ms. V’s severe level of disturbance, her long history of unsuccessful treatment, the unsupportive milieu, and the short duration of the therapy, she was able to begin to confront her illness.  Her case speaks to the possibilities for treatment of psychosis in more optimal conditions.

It is clear from this case and other studies that psychoanalytic psychotherapy of psychosis can be very helpful.  Yet the use of psychotherapy as treatment is not widely used or accepted.  Engaging in a psychotherapeutic relationship with psychotic individuals is difficult.  It necessitates tolerating a certain degree of confusion and potentially frightening, disturbing projections and often requires looking at an aspect of human nature that we would like to deny.  It requires that we enter places within ourselves that we would rather avoid.  Moreover, these treatments take time.  Despite our difficulties as clinicians it is our ethical imperative to use potentially useful modalities to assist the patient’s recovery.  Conversely, it may be considered potentially unethical to omit treatments, such as psychotherapy, that have been shown to be useful.  The case of Ms. V is a good example of how useful psychotherapy can be even in unfavorable conditions.  Ms. V’s case is representative of those many cases with severe disturbance, which seem to be unremitting.  These individuals come in and out of the hospital system, in her case over two decades with forty-plus hospitalizations.  It is clear that the current treatment system is not working well for patients like Ms. V. and that improved settings are required.
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MEMBERSHIP NEWS & ANNOUNCEMENTS OF STUDY GROUPS/PSYCHOANALYTICAL EDUCATION
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Amundson and Schwartz Psychological Consulting, Inc. is a psychodynamically-oriented group practice seeking applicants for the position of psychotherapist. The group operates two offices: one in downtown Oak Park; the other on Chicago's southwest side, near Midway Airport. Dr. Amundson and Dr. Schwartz offer bi-weekly group supervision on various clinical topics. Applicants must be licensed in Illinois and at minimum at least the master's level (LCSW, LCPC, or Psychologist licenses are acceptable). This position may be ideal for persons seeking to complete a post-doctoral requirement in psychology. (Please note that post-docs. must have a current license to practice in some other, non-psychology mental health profession.) Call 708-930-1833 for further information.
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Lynne Jansky, MSN, DPsa, will be conducting a Self-Psychology Study Group and Case Analysis Seminar.  Dr Jansky notes:  “We will begin our intrepid journey by reading and discussing the early thoughts, ideas, and theories of self-psychology and wend our path through the advent of the development of inter-subjectivity. The group will function as a self-paced entity, integrating journal articles, books, clinical examples, etc., whilst simultaneously analyzing the group process and dynamics with applications of self-psychological concepts. A brief listing of proposed readings: “Outline of Self Psychology”; “The Two Analysis of Mr.. Z”; “Forms and Transformations on Narcissism”; “Treating the Self: Introspection, Empathy, and Psychoanalysis”;  “The Kohut Lectures”; “Narcissistic Rage” . . . and much, much more. Space is limited. Call Lynne Jansky, D.Psa., for more information at:  773.528.5883, extension 1. 
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Frank Summers, PhD, is conducting a Study Group/Case Consultation Group that is more focused on the clinical work of its members.  It meets alternate Fridays from 12:45 to 2:15 in Dr Summers’s office at 333 East Ontario Street, Suite 4509.B, in Chicago. The fee for the whole group is $240 per session split among members, so the individual fee depends on the number of members; the maximum number of participants is eight, so the minimum is $30 per session, and it goes up from there depending on how many people are in it. If people miss a session, they are still responsible for the fee. If interested, please contact him at:  312.266.8230.
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David L Downing, PsyD, Director of Clinical Training with various incarnations of the Illinois School of Professional Psychology since 1990, accepted a tenure-track position at the University of Indianapolis, as Director of Graduate Programs in Psychology, and Associate Professor.  Its PsyD program is fully accredited by the American Psychological Association.  Dr Downing is continuing a private practice in psychoanalysis, psychoanalytical psychotherapy, and supervision in downtown Chicago at:  151 North Michigan Avenue, Suite 1014, Chicago, Illinois 60601.  His telephone number is still:  312.266.1665.  This past year, Dr Downing was elected President-elect of Section IV, Local Chapters, Division 39 (Psychoanalysis) of the American Psychological Association [of which the Chicago Open Chapter for the Study of Psychoanalysis is an affiliate).  Dr Downing was re-elected to the position of Treasurer of the International Federation for Psychoanalytic Education, and in fact, is the charter Treasurer of this organisation.  

Dr Downing was invited to join the editorial board of the Division of Psychoanalysis’s Journal, Psychoanalytic Psychology.  He also contributed a chapter for a book edited by Jon Mills, PsyD on Relational & Inter-subjective Perspectives in Psychotherapy.  It is entitled, “Somnolence and the Psychoanalytical Situation:  On Some Benign & Pathognomonic Features in the Treatment of a Severely Traumatized Patient”.   

Lacanian Study Groups & Seminars

The Chicago Circle Association

Facilitated by Charles E Turk, MD; Psychoanalyst & Psychiatrist; Lucia Villela-Kracke, PhD, Clinical Psychologist and Psychoanalyst; & Waud Kracke, PhD, Anthropologist and Research Psychoanalyst

30 North Michigan Avenue

Suite 1909

Chicago, Illinois 60602

There are currently two Lacanian Psychoanalytical Study Groups and Seminars.  One specialises in tracing and becoming conversant with the theoretical developments of the French Psychoanalyst, Jacques Lacan.  Readings have included primary texts by Sigmund Freud, as well as Seminars of Jacques Lacan, Book I, Freud’s Papers on Technique, translated by Jacques Alain Miller; and Ecrits:  A Selection.  

The other Seminar/Study Group has its focus on the Lacanian understanding and treatment of the Psychoses.

Readings have again included works by Sigmund Freud, as well as Seminars of Jacques Lacan, Book III, The Psychoses, again translated by Jacques Alain Miller.  

Prior practice in the field is not a requirement.  These Seminars/Study Groups are open to graduate students in the mental health fields, and other disciplines (such as Anthropology, Sociology, the Arts and the Humanities); along with post-terminal degree practicing clinicians.

Seminars are held on a monthly basis in the Conference Room at 30 North Michigan Avenue.

For information, please contact Dr Charles E Turk at:  312.269.9180.

Psychoanalytical Study Group & Seminar

Facilitated by David L Downing, PsyD, Psychoanalyst & Clinical Psychologist

151 North Michigan Avenue

Suite 1014, North Tower

Chicago, Illinois 60601

312.266.1665

ddowning@uindy.edu

This Study Group and Seminar maintains an integrative focus.  Over the course of its existence, we have read extensively from various works by Sigmund Freud, Jacques Lacan, the British ‘Independent’ Group/School of Object Relations, as well as newer works by such psychoanalysts as Peter Giovacchini, Harold Searles, Christopher Bollas, Peter Fonagy, Thomas Ogden, WRD Fairbairn, DW Winnicott, W Bion, and many others.  This Seminar/Study Group maintains a flexible format to accommodate the many interests of its participants.  There are multiple foci on theory, the dialectical application of theory to the clinical situation, empirical studies within psychoanalysis, case presentations (generally of a more informal nature).  Additionally, members have valued the opportunity to share experiences of working within settings that are generally unappreciative of, or even hostile to, the psychoanalytical enterprise, supporting efforts to maintain a psychoanalytical ethos and mode of thinking and practicing.  

Participants have generally been interested in the psychoanalytical understanding of severe psychopathology, with associated clinical applications.  Prior practice in the field is not a requirement.  This Seminar/Study Group is open to graduate students in the mental health fields, and other disciplines (such as Anthropology, Sociology, the Arts and the Humanities); along with post-terminal degree practicing clinicians.

For information, please contact Dr Downing at the telephone number or electronic-mail address above.

Chicago Open Chapter for the Study of Psychoanalysis

Section 4 (Local Chapters) Division 39 - Psychoanalysis

American Psychological Association

151 North Michigan Avenue

Suite 1014

Chicago, Illinois 60601

312.266.1665

http://cocsp.tripod.com

Membership Application

The Chicago Open Chapter for the Study of Psychoanalysis is affiliated with Division 39 (Psychoanalysis) of the American Psychological Association.  Founded in 1985, its mission is to provide a forum for the discussion of various trends in psychoanalysis, and to promote the application of psychoanalytic theory to a wide variety of areas (including, but not limited to, anthropology, history, literature, and religion).  The Open Chapter strives to provide a democratic and egalitarian atmosphere for the exchange of ideas.  Hence, although the organisation sponsors presentations by nationally and locally recognised psychoanalysts, it does not view psychoanalysis as the sole domain of mental health professionals.  As its name implies, the Open Chapter is truly “open”, in that it encourages the application of psychoanalytic inquiry to the work being done by other disciplines.  Membership dues enable us to disseminate a twice-yearly Journal/Newsletter with articles from juried conferences, or soon-to-be-published articles/book chapters and details of up-and-coming Symposia and Conferences.  Dues also enable us to maintain our new web-site and offer low-fee Symposia.

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

If you are interested in becoming a member, please complete the registration form below and return it with your $45.00 check made payable to “Chicago Open Chapter” to: David L. Downing, Psy.D., 151 North Michigan Avenue, Suite 1014 Chicago, Illinois 60601.  If you have questions, please contact David L. Downing, Psy.D. at 312.266.1665.
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MESSAGE FROM THE PRESIDENT








Greetings!





Welcome to our first newsletter/journal of 2003.  We are very pleased to publish two articles that focus on the treatment of psychosis from a psychoanalytic perspective and involve case presentations on psychoanalytical philosophy, theory, and technique.   Working with regressed patients will also be the theme of the annual IFPE conference this October. We are in the planning stages of putting together the first regional IFPE meeting with Harold Davis, PhD and Patrick Kavanaugh, PhD (past-IFPE president and founder of the Academy for the Study of Psychoanalytic Arts, a section of the Michigan Society for Psychoanalytic Psychology); as well as members of the Chicago Open Chapter. Stay tuned for forthcoming details!  


 


CALL FOR NOMINATIONS


With this issue, I’d like to call for nominations for officers and announce elections for 2003. We will shortly be sending nomination forms, and will follow-up with ballots after receiving nominations. In the future, we will post all forms as well as much other useful/interesting information on our website (http://cocsp.tripod.com).





Dues


Once again its time to renew your membership for the year. We need your dues (again, a modest $45) to help with production and mailing costs; as well as to assist in developing a ‘kitty’ for honoraria for future speakers. Please send your checks to David L Downing, PsyD at the address provided with the form in this issue. Please tell a friend about us. Remember, The Chicago Open Chapter is affiliated with Division 39 (Psychoanalysis) of the APA and offers Continuing Education Units. We encourage your participation and feedback.  The Membership Form is included in the back of this issue. Your support is appreciated!





Finally


We are putting together a list of psychoanalytic study groups in the Chicago area. These reading/supervisory/peer supervision groups are terrific ways to stay connected to like-minded colleagues of all psychoanalytic stripes as well as a way to stay current on the burgeoning psychoanalytic literature. 





Regards,





Russ Omens, Psy.D.


President
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